FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/25/2025 11:32 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/25/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 57207-9

Case #: 1038941

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.C., an individual,

Respondent,

and

A.B., an individual; D.E.F., an individual; M.R., an individual; J.L., an individual; B.F., as guardian for K.F., an individual; C.B., an individual; A.M., an individual,

Plaintiffs,

v.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

In this case in which the respondent C.C. claims that the Kiwanis petitioners, Kiwanis International, Kiwanis Pacific Northwest District, Kiwanis of Tumwater, Kiwanis of Centralia-Chehalis, and Kiwanis of University Place, are vicariously liable for the misconduct of the staff of the Kiwanis Vocational Home ("KVH"), the Kiwanis petitioners ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals opinion set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its unpublished opinion on September 4, 2024. C.C. moved to publish the opinion and Division II granted publication in part as to the corporate dissolution statute of repose, RCW 23B.14.340. Copies of the opinion and the publication order are in the Appendix.

¹ Division II's opinion exonerated the District from any vicarious liability.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does RCW 23B.14.340, the statute of repose for actions against a dissolved corporation and its directors, officers, or shareholders, bar all claims, including those for the alleged vicarious liability of putative principals of the boards of directors of the dissolved corporation?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners recognize the recitation of facts and procedure in Division II's published opinion, op. at 3-16, but certain facts bear emphasis.

The trial court ruled that RCW 23B.14.340, the corporate statute of repose, which establishes a deadline to bring claims against a dissolved corporation and its board members, applied to bar C.C.'s claims against the Kiwanis petitioners. CP 3622-24.² Division II reversed that decision.

² Multiple trial judges in cases brought by KVH residents against the Kiwanis petitioners also concluded that RCW 23B.14.340 barred all claims against the Kiwanis petitioners, as did the trial court in this case. *See, e.g., N.P. v. Kiwanis Int'l* (Pierce County Superior Court No. 21-2-05153-9); *Beglinger v. Kiwanis Int'l* (Pierce County Superior Court No. 22-2-0519-1); *T.S. v. Kiwanis Int'l* (Pierce County Superior Court No. 20-2-05375-4); *R.N. v. Kiwanis Int'l* (Thurston County Superior Court

As Division II's opinion notes, KVH was operated by Lewis County Youth Enterprises ("LCYE"), a non-profit corporation, LCYE created and owned KVH. Op. at 3. LCYE, not any of the Kiwanis petitioners, owned KVH's land, facilities, and equipment; LCYE hired the executive director; and paid the staff. CP 1176 (stating that "neither Kiwanis International nor individual Club [sic] has any ownership interest in the boys home and land on which it operates, nor does it have any obligation or commitment to operational support and funding").

LCYE had both a board of directors and an advisory board,
Division II referred to as the KVH Board. Op. at 8-11. The
LCYE corporate board did not control day-to-day operations; its
1989 bylaws stated: "The role of the Board shall be to set general
policy and guidelines for the operation of individual group
homes, not to become involved in the direct management and

No. 15-2-00383-3). That so many jurists believed that RCW 23B.14.340 barred claims like C.C's only reinforces the need for a definitive ruling from this Court on the statute's application.

operation of the homes." CP 1298.

The separate KVH advisory board was advisory, CP 1272, 1277, 1279, providing fundraising and advice. While its bylaws stated that "All Directors shall be Kiwanians," CP 2603, some of the clubs had the ability to *nominate* members to fill two board seats. Directors were elected by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. They were neither elected nor removable by the Kiwanis petitioners. Resp't br. at 17-18.

From this relationship between the Kiwanis petitioners and LCYE's board and the advisory board, C.C. argued that the Kiwanis petitioners were "principals" as to KVH's board and therefore vicariously liable for activities at KVH.³ Specifically, C.C. claimed that the Kiwanis petitioners were vicariously liable as the actual or apparent principals of the LCYE board and advisory board, and board members for LCYE's negligence. Op.

³ The Kiwanis petitioners disagree with Division II's argument that there were fact issues on agency or apparent authority vicarious liability and will vigorously contest that argument at trial, if necessary.

To be clear, C.C. is not contending that the Kiwanis petitioners had any *direct* liability to him. Specifically, he does not claim that the Kiwanis petitioners were in any kind of special relationship with him under the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315, nor that any Kiwanis petitioner engaged in actual abusive conduct. The trial court here specifically ruled that the Kiwanis petitioners had no special protective relationship with C.C. or any of the intentional tortfeasors and therefore no *direct* liability CP 3621. existed. The putative liability of the Kiwanis petitioners is vicarious only. C.C. never appealed the trial court's dismissal of his direct liability claims against the Kiwanis petitioners based on a special relationship. This ruling is final. Resp't br. at 30-31. C.C. did not challenge this point in his reply brief.4

⁴ In responses to RAP 10.8 submissions by the Kiwanis petitioners in Division II, C.C. attempted to argue that the LCYE and KVH boards had more than derivative liability as to the abuse of KVH residents by Charles McCarthy. He contended

The KVH advisory board was administratively dissolved on May 17, 1991; LCYE was administratively dissolved on June 1, 2010. Op. at 18.⁵ *See R.N. v. Kiwanis Int'l*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 389, 404, 496 P.3d 748 (2021), *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1002 (2022) (stating that "the period for filing claims against LCYE expired in 2013").

Here, C.C. did not file his cause of action against the

In any event, no Kiwanis entity had the requisite day-to-day operational control over KVH for direct liability to apply under *Restatement* § 315. *N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 535, 307 P.3d 730 (2013).

that the Kiwanis petitioners' alleged "agents" on the boards negligently breached their special relationship duties to protect C.C. while he was at KVH. (8/24/23 response at 1-2; 4/24/24 response at 1-2). That argument is contrary to the trial court's ruling on direct liability and should have been the subject of a cross-appeal C.C. *never filed*. Moreover, C.C.'s argument does not involve direct abuse on the part of board members, in any event. Rather, it is an alleged failure to properly conduct corporate affairs, an action foreclosed by RCW 23B.14.340.

⁵ Any claims against the corporation or its board members needed to have been filed by May 17, 1993 under RCW 23B.14.340. Any claims against LYCE or its board members had to filed by June 1, 2013.

Kiwanis petitioners until July 29, 2020. CP 1-36.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) The Statute of Repose for Actions Against Dissolved Corporations and Their Owners/Managers

In general, a corporation is a distinct legal entity, existing artificially in law and maintaining its own legal obligations and interests separate from its officers, directors, employees, and other agents through whom it acts. State v. Brelvis Consulting, LLC, 7 Wn. App. 2d 207, 215, 436 P.3d 818, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1019 (2019). An important rationale for the corporate form is to cut off the liability of the corporate "owners" from vicarious liability for the acts of the corporation. *In re Rapid* Settlements, Ltd.'s Application for Approval of Transfer of Structural Settlement Payment Rights, RSL-3B-IL, Ltd. v. Symetra Life Ins. Co., 166 Wn. App. 683, 692, 271 P.3d 925 (2012) (recognizing that corporation is ordinarily a separate legal entity and its liabilities are not attributable to its owners and

officers).

In the special circumstances of a dissolved corporation, Washington provides for a statute of repose, establishing a deadline to bring claims against a dissolved corporation and its owners and managers:

The dissolution of a corporation ... shall not take away or impair any remedy available against such corporation, or its directors, officers, or shareholders... unless action or other proceeding thereon is not commenced within two years after the effective date of any dissolution that was effective prior to June 7, 2006, or within three years after the effective date of any dissolution that is effective on or after June 7, 2006. . .

RCW 23B.14.340. *See* Appendix for full text. By its express terms,⁶ the statute of repose of RCW 23B.14.340 is an exception

⁶ The central goal of any statutory interpretation is to carry out legislative intent. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). This Court's analysis begins by looking at the words of the statute. *Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC*, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) (reaffirming that the "bedrock principle of statutory interpretation" is the statute's "plain language").

to the strict common law rule that a dissolved corporation ceased to exist for all purposes and therefore could not sue or be sued. Important in this case, RCW 23B.14.340 is not confined just to the dissolved corporation itself. Rather, it extends to the corporation and its owners⁷ and managers. As to finality, it bars actions not brought within three years of the dissolution of the corporation. *Cruz v. Bulldog Prop. Servs.*, 32 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2024 WL 4262975 (2024) (barring claim against dissolved corporation); *Clayton v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, 2018 WL 3496634 (W.D. Wash. 2018) (same).

RCW 23B.14.340 is silent as to whether it is to be applied to a principal, *i.e.*, whether it bars claims against the principal

⁷ Because the corporate dissolution statute of repose applies to corporate ownership, *i.e.*, the shareholders, Division II's opinion that it does not apply to "principals" raises significant concerns. The court's opinion could mean, for example, that mutual funds or private or public pension funds that had shares in a dissolved corporation could remain liable for decades-old possible claims against the dissolved corporations in which they had shares.

based upon the board member agent's tortious corporate conduct. However, the plain purpose of this statute of repose was to terminate actions against the dissolved corporation *and* its directors, as directors, if litigation is not timely brought.⁸

The public policy of a statute of repose is unmistakable:

A statute of repose establishes the right not to be sued, rather than the right to sue. A statute of repose puts an outer limit on the right to bring a civil action. With the expiration of the period of repose, the putative cause of action evanesces; life cannot thereafter be breathed back into it. Statutes of repose provide defendants relief, or repose, from the uncertainty of potential liability arising from some long-ago act by extinguishing all causes of action once the statutory period has lapsed. Society generally may continue its business and personal relationships in peace, without worry that some cause of action may arise to haunt it because of

⁸ Division II recognized that the statute does not extend to situations where the owners or directors are liable personally for actions independent of their status as owners of the organization. *R.N.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 409. Specifically, as the *R.N.* court determined, the corporate officials must *actively* participate in the commission of the alleged tortious conduct. *Id.* at 415. But that exception is not relevant to this case because, as noted *supra*, there is no *direct* claim by C.C. against any Kiwanis petitioner for his alleged abuse based on any special relationship; the Kiwanis petitioners' alleged liability is vicarious, derivative of any actual negligence of the board.

some long-forgotten act or omission. Statutes of repose reflect the legislative conclusion that a point in time arrives beyond which a potential defendant should be immune from liability for past conduct. A statute of repose is a statute of duration and provides a readily ascertainable date on which it begins to run. Thus, a repose period is fixed.

Statutes of repose are motivated by considerations of the economic best interests of the public as a whole and are substantive grants of immunity based on a legislative balance of the respective rights of potential plaintiffs and defendants. The object of a statute of repose is to suppress fraudulent and stale claims from springing up at great distances of time, and surprising the parties when all the proper vouchers and evidences are lost, or the facts have become obscure, from lapse of time, or the defective memory, death, or removal of witnesses.

51 Am. Jur. 2d Limitations of Actions (2d ed.) § 4.

The essential purpose of RCW 23B.14.340 is *finality* as to claims against the dissolved corporation and its owners and managers. 16A William Meade Fletcher, Carol A. Jones, *Fletcher Encyclopedia of the Law of Corporations*, § 8144, et seq. (2012). This can be gleaned from RCW 23B.14.050, the statute that established a process for winding up the affairs of a dissolved corporation, as well as the limitation for that process in

RCW 23B.14.340. In broadly extending the latter statute not only to the dissolved corporation itself but its officers, directors, stockholders, the corporate owners and managers, the Legislature plainly meant for the derivative liability of any persons who allegedly "controlled" the owners/managers to terminate as well. The core rationale for the statute – finality – controls.

This fact is readily documented in the legislative history of RCW 23B.14.340 discussed in *Ballard Sq. Condo Owners Ass'n v. Dynasty Constr. Co.*, 158 Wn.2d 603, 146 P.3d 914 (2006). There, this Court recounted how the Legislature overrode the harsh common law where corporations upon their dissolution ceased to exist and could not sue or be sued. *Id.* at 609. Instead, the Legislature provided *an exception* to the absolute common law bar to allow for a winding up of corporate affairs. RCW 23B.14.050. The Court noted that RCW 23B.14.340, enacted in 2006, provided that claims arising after the corporate dissolution must be timely filed or the absolute common law bar still applies.

A similar statute of repose exists for limited liability corporations. RCW 25.15.309. This Court reaffirmed that principle as to LLCs in *Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC, LLC*, 166 Wn.2d 178, 190, 207 P.3d 1251 (2009), a case discussing the predecessor statute to RCW 25.15.309 ("Once the two-year reinstatement/winding up period passed and the company's certificate of formation was canceled, it could no longer sue or be sued."). *See also*, *id.* at 195-96 (noting legislative history of RCW 23B.14.340).

Finally, in *R.N.*, Division II itself articulated the policy of finality. Division II properly noted that the corporation is a distinct legal entity whose obligations and interests are separate from its management and ownership. 19 Wn. App. 2d at 400. Moreover, echoing the implicit ruling of the *Ballard Square* court that RCW 23B.14.340 is a statute of repose, Division II concluded that the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations of RCW 4.16.340 and any associated discovery rule has "no

effect on it." Id. at 404.9

Division II's published opinion makes possible claims against entities who are arguably corporate owners or managers *years after* its dissolution, as here. This result not only upends the specific public policy of RCW 23B.14.340, but also contradicts the very nature of a statute of repose. Division II's published opinion merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) The Effect of a Statute of Repose

The *R.N.* court confirmed that "RCW 23B.14.340 is a statute of repose." *R.N.*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 404. Division II here, too, correctly agreed as to RCW 23B.14.340. Op. at 2, 18-19. The fact that RCW 23B.14.340 is a statute of repose is consequential.

As Division I correctly observed in Erickson v. Pharmacia

⁹ Division II ruled that individual director/officer liability predicated upon their own personal active behavior, arising from a special *Restatement* § 315 relationship apart from any corporate role, was unaffected by RCW 23B.14.340. Here, of course, C.C. has not argued tortious conduct by any of the Kiwanis petitioners themselves, but rather vicarious liability only.

LLC, 31 Wn. App. 2d 100, 548 P.3d 226, review granted, 3 Wn.3d 1018 (2024), statutes of limitations are different than statutes of repose. "Statutes of repose are to be treated not as statutes of limitation, but as part of the body of a state's substantive law." Rice v. Dow Chem. Co., 124 Wn.2d 205, 212, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994) (emphasis added). Accord, Cameron v. Atl. Richfield Co., 8 Wn. App. 2d 795, 808-09, 442 P.3d 31 (2019) (amendment to construction statute of repose was substantive law and not remedy only so that it did not apply retroactively). "A statute of repose terminates the right to file a claim after a specified period of time even if the injury has not yet occurred," Washington State Major League Baseball Stadium Public Facilities Dist. v. Huber & Nichols-Kiewit Const. Co., 176 Wn.2d 502, 510, 296 P.3d 821 (2013), and that termination cannot be waived or extended pursuant to equitable theories such as the discovery rule. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 579-87, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (stating that the discovery rule will not extend the running of the

grounds generally, *Bennett v. United States*, 2 Wn.3d 430, 454, 539 P.3d 361 (2023), and bar a claim from ever arising. *Rice*, 124 Wn.2d at 211-12. By its very nature, a statute of repose is *not* a personal defense. It is *not* designed to address the *individual* time elements for a claim, as does a statute of limitations, but rather bars whole classes of cases on public policy grounds.

(3) <u>Division II's Determination that RCW 23B.14.340</u> <u>Created a Personal Defense Is Erroneous</u>

Division II's determination that RCW 23B.14.340 is a personal defense of the Kiwanis petitioners, op. at 19-24, is contrary to the nature of statutes of repose. Division II correctly interpreted RCW 23B.14.340 to be a statute of repose, op. at 18-19, but it erred in concluding that statutes of repose are a personal defense. Op. at 20. Where LCYE and its advisory board no longer exist and three years have passed, no claim¹⁰ may be

¹⁰ It is precisely C.C.'s sort of claim – the board, or the entities that allegedly directed the board, were somehow negligent in allowing Charles McCarthy and others to abuse

brought against the LCYE board and advisory members, not because of their *personal* status, but because claims may not be brought against *anyone* for the actions of the LCYE board or the advisory board. When Division II posits that the dismissal below was based on "technical or procedural grounds," op. at 24, it is flatly wrong in its characterization of RCW 23B.14.340, a substantive law enacted by the Legislature.

Division II's rationale for its analysis is circuitous. It acknowledges that this Court in *Babcock v. State*, 112 Wn.2d 83, 106, 768 P.2d 481 (1989) stated that an immunity is a *substantive*, not personal, defense. Op. at 21.¹¹ And Division II

KVH residents – for which RCW 23B.14.340's statute of repose exists, i.e., to bring finality.

¹¹ Division II also acknowledges *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991) wherein this Court vacated its earlier position on CPS caseworker immunity, but *not* the principle that an actual immunity absolves the principal of liability, as it does the putative agent. Op. at 21. Rather, in the second *Babcock* decision, this Court expressly held that caseworkers only have a qualified immunity for their negligent investigations in specified circumstances and that such a qualified immunity was a *personal defense*. 116 Wn.2d at 618-

also acknowledges that this Court in *Rice* held that a statute of repose is part of Washington's *substantive law*. Op. at 21. Accordingly, the corporate dissolution statute of repose is *not* a personal defense because it is part of *substantive* law, applying equally to the principal or the actual or apparent agent. Division II simply dismisses *Rice* as a choice of law case. Op. at 21-22.

Division II's analysis of the allegedly "personal" nature of the defense is contrary to this Court's precedents. *Creelman v. Svenning*, 67 Wn.2d 882, 410 P.2d 606 (1966)¹² (stating that the County and State are immune from liability for malicious prosecution); and *Guffey v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 144, 153, 690 P.2d 1163 (1984) (stating that the State and Washington State Patrol cannot be held liable when the trooper is immune), the Court

19.

¹² Creelman was superseded by RCW 64.40.020 only as it pertains to land use cases. See Reddy v. Karr, 102 Wn. App. 742, 752, 9 P.3d 927 (2000).

ruled that vicarious liability did not extend to the State.¹³ As recently as *Ford v. Dep't of Corrections*, 30 Wn. App. 2d 1043, 2024 WL 1620976 (2024) at *4, Division I reaffirmed the application of *Creelman/Guffey*.

In attempting to distinguish *Creelman/Guffey* that exonerated a principal for an alleged agent's liability predicated upon the agent's immunity, Division II resorted to the argument that both cases are based "on public policy considerations." Op. at 22.¹⁴ The court then asserted, citing *Savage v. State*, 127

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