FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/3/2025 10:00 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Motion to Modify Clerk's ruling re answer is pending

No. 103894-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.C., an individual,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner,

v.

KIWANIS INTERNATIONAL, et al.,

Petitioners/Cross-Respondents.

RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER C.C.'s ANSWER TO KIWANIS PETITIONERS/CROSS-RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA ATTORNEYS AT LAW

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that RCW 23B.14.340 does not bar claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation. This conclusion is compelled by the plain language of the statute. The Kiwanis Petitioners' preferred reading of the statute, based on their own policy preferences, would require the improper addition of words that our legislature has chosen not to include. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' conclusion is consistent with this Court's precedent, which holds that statutory time limitations are personal defenses that do not immunize a principal from liability. Because the Kiwanis Petitioners have not shown that their petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court,

RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Court should decline to grant review on this issue.

A. The Corporate Dissolution Survival Statute, by its Plain Language, Does Not Bar Claims Against the Principal of a Dissolved Corporation

The Kiwanis Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' determination that the corporate dissolution survival statute does not bar vicarious liability claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation. That conclusion, however, is compelled by the plain language of the statute. This Court should decline review.

Our legislature enacted RCW 23B.14.340 in response to a Court of Appeals decision determining that, "absent a survival statute, claims against a corporation arising after dissolution of the corporation abated." *Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC LLC*, 166 Wn.2d 178, 195, 207 P.3d 1251 (2009) (analyzing RCW 25.15.303, the counterpart survival statute applicable to claims against limited liability companies). As this Court has explained, the statute "shows the legislature's intent that claims

arising after dissolution are not absolutely barred, unlike the harsh common law rule." *Ballard Square*, 158 Wn.2d at 611. In other words, corporate dissolution no longer "strip[s] a claimant of the ability to file a lawsuit." *Leren v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 55, 69, 442 P.3d 273 (2019).

Instead, RCW 23B.14.340 establishes a post-dissolution "limitations period" during which individuals harmed by corporate wrongdoing can assert their claims. *Ballard Square*, 158 Wn.2d at 616. It provides that

[t]he dissolution of a corporation . . . shall not take away or impair any remedy available against *such corporation*, *its directors*, *officers*, *or shareholders*, for any right or claim existing, or any liability incurred, prior to such dissolution or arising thereafter, unless action or other proceeding thereon is not commenced within two years of the effective date of any dissolution that was effective prior to June 7, 2006, or within three years after the effective date of any dissolution that is effective on or after June 7, 2006.

RCW 23B.14.340 (emphasis added). Thus, by its plain language, "RCW 23B.14.340 governs the survival of remedies against *a dissolved corporation, its directors, its officers, or its shareholders*." *Leren*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 69 (emphasis added).

The Kiwanis Petitioners acknowledge that RCW 23B.14.340 is "silent as to whether it is to be applied to a principal." Pet. at 9. They nonetheless argue that our legislature, in enacting the statute, intended to immunize against liability "any persons who allegedly 'controlled' the owners/managers" of a dissolved corporation.³ Pet. at 12. Such a reading of the statute contravenes well-established principles of statutory

³ It is unclear whether the Kiwanis Petitioners are asserting that the "directors, officers, or shareholders" of the dissolved corporation, as set forth in RCW 23B.14.340, constitute "owners and managers" of that corporation, or whether Petitioners contend that *they—the Kiwanis entities*—constitute the "owners or managers" of the dissolved corporations. See Pet. at 9 (arguing that, by extending the statute to "the corporate owners and managers," our legislature necessarily intended it to immunize from liability "any persons who allegedly 'controlled' the owners/managers" as well); see also Pet. at 14 (arguing that the Court of Appeals decision "makes possible claims against entities who are arguably corporate owners or managers" after corporate dissolution). This lack of clarity is of no consequence. The plain language of RCW 23B.14.340 does not bar claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation.

interpretation. When a statute's meaning is plain on its face, our courts "must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 9-10. Only if statutory language is ambiguous do our courts resort to aids of construction to determine intent. *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 12. There is no ambiguity here.

Rather, by its plain language, the corporate dissolution survival statute expands the time period during which claimants can assert claims against a dissolved corporation and the related persons explicitly listed in the statute—the corporation's "directors, officers, or shareholders." RCW 23B.14.340. The statute nowhere includes the term "principals." Nor does the statute establish a limitations period for asserting claims against *an active corporation* as the principal of a dissolved corporation. Indeed, because chapter 23B.14 RCW governs corporate *dissolution*, neither that chapter nor the survival statute within it has any applicability to the assertion of claims against *an active corporation*, regardless of whether the asserted claims are direct

or vicarious. Our courts "must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them." *Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003). The Kiwanis Petitioners' preferred reading of the statute requires the insertion of the word "principal" where our legislature clearly chose not to include it.

Division One has rejected an argument nearly identical to the one made by the Kiwanis Petitioners here—that claims against entities not listed in the statute can be "time-barred under the limitations period in RCW 23B.14.340." *Leren*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 69-70. In *Leren*, as here, the dissolved corporation was not a party to the lawsuit; instead, claims were asserted against a successor corporation that had not been dissolved. 9 Wn. App. 2d at 69-70. The Court of Appeals noted that the defendant corporation had provided "no authority for the proposition that the legislature intended to bar successor liability claims when it enacted the dissolution statute." *Leren*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 69-70. It concluded that RCW 23B.14.340 did not apply. *Leren*, 9 Wn.

App. 2d at 70. Under the plain language of the statute, the same is true here.

The Kiwanis Petitioners further urge this Court to accept review of this issue, which involves the straightforward application of an unambiguous statute, to address Petitioners' own policy preferences. They argue that the purpose of RCW 23B.14.340 is "finality" and that the Court of Appeals "ignored [the] finality principle." Pet. at 11, 25. But that argument contravenes both the plain language of the corporate dissolution survival statute and this Court's decisional authority. Again, our legislature, in enacting RCW 23B.14.340, intended to "cut any

⁴ Petitioners' argument is premised on an incorrect characterization of RCW 23B.14.340 as a statute of repose, which will be addressed *infra*. However, regardless of its characterization, the statute's plain language compels the conclusion reached by the Court of Appeals—that it does not bar vicarious liability claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation.

remaining ties" to the "harsh common law rule" that imposed an absolute bar on claims against a dissolved corporation. Ballard Square, 158 Wn.2d at 610-11. See also Chadwick Farms, 166 Wn.2d at 196 (legislature's intent in enacting analogous statute was "ensuring that suit could be prosecuted against a limited liability company after dissolution"). Contrary to the Kiwanis Petitioners' suggestion, our legislature, in enacting the survival statute, did not aim to provide "finality" for corporations that had dissolved—and, certainly, it did not aim to provide "finality" for corporations that remain active, like the Kiwanis entities here. Instead, our legislature enacted RCW 23B.14.340 with the express intent of permitting claims that would otherwise be unavailable against a dissolved corporation and "its directors,

officers, or shareholders." *Ballard Square*, 158 Wn.2d at 610-11; *Chadwick Farms*, 166 Wn.2d at 196.

The Kiwanis Petitioners further argue, as they did before the Court of Appeals, that barring claims against the principals of dissolved corporations "is consistent with considerations of practicality." Pet. at 25. But our legislature "is the fundamental source for the definition of [our] state's public policy," and our courts "should resist the temptation to rewrite an unambiguous statute to suit [their] notions of what constitutes good public policy." *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 390, 36 P.3d 1014

⁵ This policy underlying RCW 23B.14.340—that of permitting plaintiffs to assert claims that otherwise would have abated following corporate dissolution—parallels the policy underlying vicarious liability against principals, such as the Kiwanis entities here. That policy, which is "to afford the plaintiff the maximum opportunity to be fully compensated," similarly seeks to provide recompense to plaintiffs. *Vanderpool v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 110 Wn.2d 483, 487, 756 P.2d 111 (1988).

(2001) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 725, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999)). *See also Roberts v. Dudley*, 140 Wn.2d 58, 79, 993 P.2d 901 (2000) (Talmadge, J., concurring) ("The specter of judicial activism is unloosed and roams free when a court declares, 'This is what the Legislature meant to do or should have done.""). And as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, "the argument that principals should have an expectation that liability would be terminated on the timeline in RCW 23B.14.340 fails because [the statute] does not even mention principals." *C.C.*, No. 57207-9-II, at *24. This Court should decline to accept review based on Petitioners' policy arguments.

B. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion is Consistent with This Court's Binding Precedent

In addition to being compelled by RCW 23B.14.340's plain language, the Court of Appeals' determination comports with this Court's binding precedent. Under Washington law, when an agent's liability is discharged due to statutory time limitations, rather than a judgment on the merits, the principal remains liable for the agent's acts. *Oja*, 89 Wn.2d at 77. The

Court of Appeals correctly concluded that, because the defense provided by RCW 23B.14.340 is procedural, it does not bar the assertion of claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation.

In Oja, this Court considered the effect of the dismissal of claims against a subcontractor agent on the plaintiff's ability to maintain an action against the principal premised on the same events. 89 Wn.2d at 77. The action against the subcontractor had been "dismissed as being barred by the statute of limitations." Oja, 89 Wn.2d at 77. This Court rejected the principal's argument that it could not "be held derivatively responsible" because its agent had been discharged. Oja, 89 Wn.2d at 77. The claims against the principal, this Court held, would be barred "only insofar as the judgment for the agent [was] 'on the merits and not based on a personal defense." Oja, 89 Wn.2d at 77 (quoting RESTATEMENT OF JUDGMENTS, § 99 (1942)). Because the dismissal was based on the limitations period, "rather than the merits," and was thus "personal to" the agent, the plaintiff's claims against the principal were not barred. *Oja*, 89 Wn.2d at 77.

Here, relying on this Court's decision in *Oja*, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the corporate dissolution survival statute creates a procedural bar to the assertion of claims and, thus, that dismissals based on the statute are not "judgments on the merits." *C.C.*, No. 57207-9-II, at *20. Accordingly, the Court held that "an agent's defense under RCW 23B.14.340 does not sever liability as to the principal." *C.C.*, No. 57207-9-II, at *20. This conclusion comports with the plain language of the statute, which nowhere suggests an intent by our legislature to bar claims against the principal of a dissolved corporation.

The Kiwanis Petitioners nonetheless argue that RCW 23B.14.340 does not provide a "personal defense" because, according to Petitioners, the statute precludes claims "brought against *anyone* for the actions" of the dissolved LCYE and KVH Boards. Pet. at 16-17. This circular logic erroneously presumes that the survival statute precludes claims against the principal of

a dissolved corporation. Again, by the unambiguous language of the statute, it does not.

Likening the time limitation provided in RCW 23B.14.340 to the statutory immunity of government officials, the Kiwanis Petitioners further suggest that the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this Court's decisional authority.⁶ *See* Pet. at 17-20. To the extent that statutory immunity decisions inform the meaning of RCW 23B.14.340, this Court has made clear that "[a]n agent's immunity from civil liability generally does not establish a defense for the principal." *Babcock II*, 116 Wn.2d at

⁶ As in the Court of Appeals, the Kiwanis Petitioners do not explain why statutory immunity caselaw is applicable to the meaning of the corporate dissolution survival statute. *See C.C.*, No. 57207-9-II, at *22 n.7 ("[T]he Kiwanis Defendants do not explain how the corporate dissolution protection in RCW 23.14.340 is anything like the prosecutorial immunity discussed in *Creelman* [v. *Svenning*, 67 Wn.2d 882, 410 P.2d 606 (1966)].").

620; see also Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 196 Wn.2d 864, 885 n.11, 479 P.3d 656 (2021); Savage v. State, 127 Wn.2d 434, 439, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995). Moreover, as the Court of Appeals recognized, whether a government official's statutory immunity extends to the State is a fact-specific and policy-based determination involving legislative intent in the context of sovereign immunity. Savage, 127 Wn.2d at 445-47; Babcock II, 116 Wn.2d at 620-21. See C.C., 57207-9-II, at *22-23. Petitioners' argument is unavailing.

Nor should this Court accept review to consider the nonbinding, inapposite foreign authority cited by the Kiwanis Petitioners. Pet. at 21-23. None of the cited cases involves a corporate dissolution survival statute, such as RCW 23B.14.340. See McCarthy v. Lee, 230 N.E.3d 1131 (Ohio 2023); Tsuji v. Fleet, 366 So. 3d 1020 (Fla. 2023); Pitt-Hart v. Sanford USD Med. Ctr., 878 N.W.2d 406 (S. Dak. 2016). Again, rather than barring claims, a survival statute extends the life of a corporation to bestow upon individuals harmed by corporate wrongdoing the

right to assert claims that otherwise would have abated upon corporate dissolution. *See*, *e.g.*, *Ballard Square*, 158 Wn.2d at 610-11; *Chadwick Farms*, 166 Wn.2d at 196. Petitioners cite no authority—foreign or otherwise—for the proposition that a corporate dissolution survival statute operates to bar vicarious liability claims asserted against *an active corporation*. And, significantly, the unambiguous language of RCW 23B.14.340 is directly contrary to such a conclusion.

C. The Kiwanis Petitioners Fail to Demonstrate that their Petition Presents an Issue of "Substantial Public Interest"

The Kiwanis Petitioners urge this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' holding regarding RCW 23B.14.340 based solely on purported policy considerations. They assert that the Court of Appeals' holding represents "bad public policy" and that the decision has "created uncertainty" for principals of dissolved corporations. Pet. at 26-27. But our legislature, in enacting the unambiguous language of the survival statute, has already addressed the pertinent policy concerns. *See* Pet. at 20

(requesting that this Court grant review to address "public policy considerations"). Because Petitioners have not shown that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this Court should decline to accept review of this issue.

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